STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

RECEIVED

02-08-2010

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

CASE NO. 2009AP002690 - CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MIGUEL AYALA

Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

ON APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED ON JULY 24, 2008, AND FROM THE ORDER ENTERED ON MAY 9, 2008 DENYING AYALA'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE, IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRUICT COURT, THE HONORABLE JEFFREY WAGNER, PRESIDING

CRAIG S. POWELL State Bar No. 1046248 Kohler & Hart, LLP 735 North Water Street, Suite 1212 Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53202 Telephone: (414) 271-9595 Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Did the circuit court err in finding that the police asked for and obtained consent to enter the residence?
- 2. Does the host of an overnight guest have authority to consent to the search of a bedroom used exclusively by the guest?
- 3. Can the warrantless entry of the guest's bedroom be supported by exigent circumstances, where any exigencies were created by the decision to proceed without obtaining a warrant?

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is requested and publication of the opinion in this case is requested because the issues presented will result in an opinion that modifies or clarifies the law of third-party consent and will apply existing law regarding third-party consent and exigent circumstances to a factual situation different from that in published opinions.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a direct appeal from a judgment of conviction for First Degree Intentional Homicide As Party To A Crime By Use Of A Dangerous Weapon, in violation of Wis. Stats. §§ 940.01(1)(a), 939.05, and 939.63(1)(b); and three counts of Armed Robbery With Use Of Force as Party To The Crime, in violation of Wis. Stats. §§ 943.32(2) and 939.05, entered on July 28, 2008. Following the circuit court's denial of his motion to suppress evidence and statements pursuant to an unlawful arrest, Ayala was convicted after a trial by jury on each of the above-mentioned counts. Ayala was sentenced to life in prison without eligibility for extended supervision for the homicide; 32 years for the robbery of the homicide victim, running concurrent to his life sentence; and 35 years for each of the other two robberies, running consecutive to all other sentences. (R.37; App. 101-03).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In a criminal complaint filed on February 1, 2008, Miguel Ayala was charged with being party to the crime of first degree intentional homicide while armed, and three counts of being a party to the crime of armed robbery. (R.2: 1-2). In the same complaint, Carlos Gonzalez was charged with felony murder, and Irene Rodriguez was charged with being party to the crime of first-degree reckless homicide. (Id.: 2).

The complaint alleged that on January 26, 2008, Ayala and Gonzalez Jacqueline Heard, Vanessa Crawford, Leatherbury, and Lodewikus "Vic" Milford as they were standing near Milford's car in a parking lot at 201 W. Walker Street in Milwaukee. (Id.: 3-4). One of the men was armed with a gun and demanded money from Milford. (Id.: 3). After Milford turned over his money, the man with the gun turned to Crawford and demanded her money. (Id.: 4). At this point, Milford's car alarm went off and the man with the gun began yelling at Milford to turn it off. (Id.). Crawford gave the man \$65 and sat in the car. (Id.). Milford got into the driver's seat. (Id.). The man then turned to Heard and asked what she had. (Id.). Heard turned over her purse and the man began walking away. (Id: 5). Heard dropped to her knees and then heard two gunshots. (Id.). After a few seconds, Heard stood up and saw that Milford was slumped over the driver's seat, shot. (Id.). Milford died on the scene. (Id.: 3). The complaint further alleges that Gonzalez, Ayala, and Rodriguez each gave statements implicating themselves in the robbery and shooting, with Ayala as the shooter, Gonzalez as the lookout, and Rodriguez as the driver. (Id.: 5-8).

In the immediate aftermath of the shooting, police had no suspects. Crawford, Heard, and Leatherbury, provided differing descriptions of the actors and could not identify them. (R.61: 26; 70,77; 103).

On January 29, 2008, an anonymous informant appeared at the Milwaukee Police Department Second District station and claimed that Carlos Gonzalez and a person named Wedo were involved in Milford's homicide. (R.62: 14). Police later determined that Miguel Ayala was known as "Wedo." (Id.: 14-15).

Police then talked to Irene Rodriguez, who at first implicated Ayala, and only Ayala. (R.62: 39). Rodriguez was not arrested initially, but after police determined that she had been untruthful about the

involvement of Gonzalez and herself, she was arrested and interviewed again. In all, Rodriguez was interviewed by police three times. (R.62: 41). During her final interview, Rodriguez admitted driving Ayala and Gonzalez to and from the crime scene and sharing in the robbery proceeds. (R.62: 26-32; 41).

Police arrested Gonzalez on January 29, 2008. (R.52: 27; App. 327). Gonzalez was then interviewed by police. Gonzalez initially blamed Ayala for the shooting and never mentioned the presence of Irene Rodriguez. (R.64: 45-46). After a break in questioning, police came back to Gonzalez and told him they had talked to Rodriguez and Ayala. (Id.: 67). Gonzalez then changed his story to reflect Rodriguez's role as the getaway driver. (Id.).

At approximately noon on January 30, 2008, Milwaukee police descended on 600 W. Maple Street in Milwaukee based on information that Ayala was there. (R.52: 5; App. 305). The building at that location contains Jo Jo's Tavern in the lower level and a residence in the upper level (Id.). Once there, police made contact with a Hispanic male through a window and asked someone to come outside. (R.52: 12; App. 312). The lessee, Rochelle Cervantes, came down to the door. (Id.: 13; App. 313). Police showed Cervantes a picture of Ayala and asked if he was there. (Id.: 6; App. 306). According to police, Cervantes pointed to a bedroom upstairs and, after officers said they would like to go get him, both Cervantes and her husband "both made a statement to the effect of go, go." (Id.). Officers went straight to the bedroom and opened the door without knocking or announcing their presence. (Id.: 16-17; App. 316-17). Ayala was found lying on a bed in the room and was taken into custody. (Id.: 17; App. 317). During a subsequent search of the bedroom in which Ayala was staying, a handgun was found between (Id. 18; App. 318). the mattresses. The gun was ultimately determined to be the gun used in the Milford homicide. (R.65: 61; 76-79). No fingerprints were found on the gun, and though swabbed for a DNA comparison, those swabs were never submitted to the crime lab for analysis. (R.65: 63-66).

After Ayala was arrested that afternoon, Milwaukee Police Detectives interrogated Ayala. (R.65: 83). During this interview, Ayala made inculpatory statements regarding his involvement in Milford's death and robbery. (R.69: Exh. 95, 2:20:00-2:52:00).

Ayala and Gonzalez were each bound over for trial after a preliminary hearing on February 8, 2008. (R.47: 84). On May 28, 2008, Ayala's trial counsel filed a motion to suppress Ayala's statements as well as the evidence seized based on Ayala's unlawful arrest. (R.1: Entry 11; App. 201-04). The motion alleged that the police entry of the residence and interior bedroom where Ayala was sleeping were unconstitutional, requiring the suppression of the gun and Ayala's statements as fruit of that unlawful action. A hearing on the motion was held on April 17, 2008.

At the start of the motion hearing, defense counsel requested a witness sequestration order. The prosecutor agreed, but requested that Detective Blaszak be allowed to assist at counsel table. Defense counsel did not object and the court approved both requests. (R.52: 3; App. 303).

Milwaukee Gang Crimes Intelligence officer Tim Bandt testified first. According to Bandt, at approximately noon on January 30, 2008, he was sent to 600 W. Maple Street to look for Ayala. (R.52: 4-5; App. 304-05). Bandt and other officers arrived at the residence at about 12:20 p.m. after gathering at a predetermined meet spot. (Id.: 10; App. 310). Bandt did not know the actual number of police officers there, but agreed that there were at least seven or eight others. (R.52: 11; App. 311). Bandt was in street clothes with his police identification card around his neck, but there were other officers there in police uniform. (Id.: 13-14; App. 313-14). Although Bandt could not say whether another officer knocked on a door or rang a doorbell, Bandt testified that he first made contact with an unknown Hispanic male inside the residence through a window in the upper part of the residence. (Id.: 12; App. 312). Bandt told that person to come down to the door, and Rochelle Cervantes came down. (Id.: 13; App. 313).

Bandt spoke with Mrs. Cervantes at the door, who said she and her husband rented both the bar downstairs and the apartment upstairs. (Id.: 6; App. 306). Bandt testified that he showed Mrs. Cervantes a photo of Ayala and asked if he was there. (Id.) According to Bandt, Mrs. Cervantes pointed to a bedroom and said he was up there. (Id.). Bandt asked if Ayala was armed, and Mr. and Mrs. Cervantes said they didn't know. (Id.: 24; App. 324). Neither she nor her husband expressed any fear of Ayala. (Id.). Bandt said "we would like to go get him" and Mrs. Cervantes and her husband "made a statement to the effect, go, go." (Id.: 6; App. 306). Bandt testified that he took

that as "consent to go upstairs and to arrest Mr. Ayala." (Id.: 6; App. 306). The conversation with Cervantes and subsequent entry to the residence happened "very quickly." (Id.: 15; App. 315). Bandt testified that he did not have his weapon drawn during the conversation, but he did not observe if any of the tactical officers or other officers behind him had their weapons drawn because he was in the conversation with Cervantes. (Id.: 22; App. 322).

Bandt testified that he had reason to believe that Ayala would have been armed because Bandt believed that the gun used in the Milford homicide had not been recovered. (Id.: 7; App. 307). Bandt also claimed in his testimony that he had "other information" that Ayala was involved in the homicide and "probably still armed with that firearm." (Id.). The source of this "other information" was not described or divulged in any manner.

Bandt testified that he and "around 10" officers proceeded up the stairs into the apartment, and that Milwaukee Police Officer Richard Wearing quickly opened the door to the bedroom where Ayala was lying in bed. (Id.). Nobody knocked on the bedroom door or asked for permission to enter the bedroom. (Id.: 16-17; App. 316-17). According to Bandt, after he and Wearing entered the room, he asked the person to identify himself, and Ayala gave his name. (Id.: 8; App. 308). Bandt had his gun drawn, but did not know if Wearing did. (Id.: 19; App. 319). Ayala was then placed into custody. Bandt stated that "very simultaneous to that, as I stood him up, myself and Officer Wearing to continue the protective sweep of the bedroom lifted the mattress." (Id.: 8; App. 308). Bandt said he did this to "make sure there are no other persons that could harm us or no other persons in that bedroom." (Id.). Bandt also said they were looking for "anything, any contraband, any firearms, anything like that ... if there was other persons present they could access those things." (Id.). Bandt testified that as Ayala was stood up from the bed, he was in handcuffs. According to Bandt, Ayala was cooperative when he was placed into custody. (Id.: 17; App. 317). Officer Wearing and Bandt then both lifted the mattress and found the gun. (Id.: 9; App. 309). Bandt claimed at the time he and Wearing conducted this search, Ayala was in the area of the bed, and Bandt and Wearing were the only officers in the room. (Id.: 9, 18-19; App. 309, 318-19). According to Bandt, after the gun was found, Wearing stayed in the bedroom to secure the evidence and Bandt escorted Ayala outside. (Id.: 9; App. 309). Bandt said that he was in the bedroom for only about 30 seconds before he brought Ayala out. (Id.: 18;

App. 318). As he brought Ayala out of the bedroom, he observed other officers throughout the residence, searching. (Id.: 19-20; App. 319-20).

Detective Christopher Blaszak, who had observed Bandt's testimony from his seat at the prosecutor's table, testified next. (R.52: 25: App. 325). Blaszak testified that police had determined that Ayala was a suspect in the Milford homicide through interviews with Irene Rodriguez, "Carlos," Rafael Rosales, and Gina Rodriguez. (Id.: 26-28; App. 326-28). According to Blaszak, he went to 600 W. Maple and requested additional squads, including Officer Bandt and members of the intelligence division, uniformed personnel from district two, and the tactical enforcement unit. (Id.: 28; App. 328). Blaszak claimed that he believed 600 W. Maple St. to be a Latin King hangout but, unlike Bandt's testimony, Blaskak stated that he had no specific information that Mr. Ayala was at that address; he just figured it would be a good place to check¹. (Id.: 43; App. 343). Blaszak testified that he believed he had probable cause to arrest Ayala based on previous statements in the investigation indicating his involvement in the homicide. (Id.: 44; App. 344). Blaszak said police had most of this information the day before, but he did not attempt to obtain a search warrant or arrest warrant. (Id.: 44; App. 344).

Blaszak testified that he maintained a surveillance position across the street until the additional units arrived. He testified that "the location appeared as if it was becoming contained, meaning no one could run out as to -- if they knew the police were coming." (Id.: 28; App. 328). The additional units began arriving at 12:10 p.m., with about 25 total officers on scene. (Id.: 46; App. 346). Blaszak saw officers taking up positions outside the residence to contain it as Bandt appeared to be making contact with someone inside. (Id.: 30; App. 330). Blaszak testified that he followed the group of officers into the residence. (Id.: 32-33; App. 332-33). He saw Bandt and Ayala at the threshold of the bedroom door, and he escorted both of them down to a squad car. (Id.: 48-49; App. 348-49). This occurred at approximately 12:30 p.m. (Id.: 49; App. 349).

Blaszak further testified that he had a brief conversation with Rochelle Cervantes in her kitchen where he asked her if it was okay

¹ This contradicts Bandt's testimony, which was that they had received information from that Ayala was there, (R.52: 5), as well as Officer Todd Bohlen's testimony, which was that they had received information that Ayala was there. (R.54: 8).

"for police to be inside her house asking for her consent to search the residence for evidence." (Id.: 33-34; App. 333-34). Blaszak said she signed his memo book indicating consent to do so at 12:54 p.m. (Id.: 34-35; App. 334-35). Blaszak further testified that he spoke with Jose Cervantes, Steven Cervantes, and an Andy Hernandez, getting consent from each to search the bedrooms they occupied. (Id.: 37-38; 337-38).

The State then called Detective Michael Braunreiter to testify about his interview with Rochelle Cervantes at the scene of the search. (Id.: 56-81; App. 356-81). This maneuver by the State was essentially an attempt at pre-emptive impeachment; Mrs. Cervantes was expected as a defense witness at the hearing. The State then called Detective Gust Petropolous to testify about his interview with Jose Cervantes at the scene of the search. (Id.: 82-85; App. 382-85). The hearing was then adjourned until later in the afternoon.

When the court reconvened later that afternoon, defense counsel informed the court that Detective Blaszak had violated the sequestration order. (R.53: 3; App. 403). Counsel alleged that Blaszak had approached Rochelle Cervantes in the hallway, where she was waiting to be called as a defense witness. (Id.). Counsel further alleged that during that conversation, Blaszak said something to the effect that "the defense was trying to prove that some kind of coercion occurred in giving the consent to enter, and that Blaszak told Cervantes that she was "a good woman and she should not lie and she should tell the truth when she comes in here." (Id.: 3-4; App. 403-04). Counsel asked the court to admonish Blaszak and to further order that none of the officers have any verbal contact with the defense witnesses. (Id.:4; App. 404). The following exchange occurred:

The Court: Okay. Mr. Williams.

Williams: How bizarre. He tells her to tell the truth and she says it's intimidation. You know the cops have as

says it's intimidation. You know, the cops have as much right to talk to these witnesses as they do. The defense doesn't owe those witnesses – own those witnesses. In fact, it's not – it's improper for the defense to say that the police cannot talk to those witnesses. Those witnesses can talk to whoever they want, whoever they choose to talk to. Detective Blaszak according to counsel simply told her to tell the truth, what's wrong with that.

The Court: Well, she would be told to tell the truth anyway

because the Court is going to swear—let's keep in

mind there's a sequestration order and I'm sure

that everybody is going to abide by it.

Vishny: That's fine. Judge, I would be happy on a future

occasion to provide counsel and the Court with ample case law which exists in federal law about law enforcement officers approaching defense witnesses somehow intimating that they may not testify truthfully and that she should, quote/unquote, tell the truth meaning adhere to the State's version. I don't think there's any other reasonable interpretation. Of course he can interview her about what occurred, but there is a sequestration order in effect here and I'm just saying that the defense will not tolerate any future conduct like this and we will take appropriate remedies if we think they need to be taken in the

future.

The Court: And you should.

Williams: Now she's threatening us. How bizarre. The Court: Wait a second. Let's move on with this.

Vishny: Okay.

The Court: And as you should.

Vishny: Thank you.

The Court: There's a sequestration order as to this hearing that

should be kept.

Williams: Well, the police are going to talk to these

witnesses again and they are entitled to do that.

The Court: This if for this hearing right here?

Williams: Right.

The Court: Right—right now?

Williams: Yes.

The Court: There's a sequestration order on this issue.

Williams: And I would like to see the case law that says the

police cannot tell people that they should tell the

truth.

The Court: Okay. Let's – what's your next – who is your next

witness.

(R.53: 4-6; App. 404-06).

Absent from the prosecutor's bluster and stated intent to willfully disregard the court's sequestration order was any denial by the State or Detective Blaszak that he had spoken with Mrs. Cervantes as alleged.

The defense first called Steven Cervantes. Steven, who was 21 years old, lived in the upstairs of 600 W. Maple Street with his mother, father, and brother Andy Hernandez. (R.53: 7; App. 407). His other brother, Ricardo Cervantes, did not live at the residence. (Id.:

8; App. 408). Steven testified that at about midnight on January 29, 2008, he was at Jo Jo's tavern, which is in the lower level of 600 W. Maple St. (Id.: 8; App. 408). At that time he saw Ayala at the tavern. (Id.: 9; App. 409). Steven knew Ayala through his brother Ricardo, and had contact with Ayala two or three times during the "couple months" before January 28, 2008. (Id.: 15; App. 415). Ayala asked Steven if he could spend the night because he had been locked out of his house and had nowhere to go. (Id.: 9; App. 409). Steven said "Sure." (Id.). The two then went upstairs, had something to eat, and Steven directed Ayala to his brother Ricardo's old room. (Id.: 10; App. 410). The room had been vacant for a (Id.: 16-17; App. 416-17). Steven testified that he is allowed to have overnight guests at the apartment without asking his parents' permission first, and that he is allowed to have guests spend the night in his brother's room. (Id.: 10-11; App. 410-11). Steven watched Ayala go into the room and then Steven went back down to the bar. (Id.: 11; App. 411). Steven was in his room when police entered the following morning, and he observed nothing regarding the initial entry by police or Ayala's arrest. (Id.: 16; App. 416).

Rochelle Cervantes testified next. Rochelle testified that in the early afternoon of January 30, 2008, she was in her kitchen drinking a cup of coffee with her husband when she heard a tap. (Id.: 20; App. 420). She went to the window and saw officers in plain clothes and uniforms outside with their guns drawn. (Id.: 20-21; App. 420-21). She then went downstairs and asked who was there. (Id.). The officers identified themselves as Milwaukee Police and told her to open the door, which she did. (Id.: 20; App. 420). Rochelle testified that when she opened the door she "had all these guns pointed at me." (Id.). She also testified that some officers had something in their hand where it looked like they were going to break the door down². (Id.: 21-22; App. 421-22). She said she asked what the problem was and they told her to step outside. (Id.). Rochelle testified that an officer gently grabbed her arm and told her to step to the side. The officers were asking where Miguel was. When she said "Miguel who?" they showed her a picture and asked if he was there. Rochelle said yes, but that she knew him as "Wicked." (Id.: 21, 23; App. 421, 423). They asked her "Where?" testified that she pointed up to the window where he was at and they went inside. (Id.: 21; App. 421). Rochelle testified that the officer

² Her testimony on this observation was allowed to stand, despite the prosecutor's interjection that this observation somehow showed her "bias." (R.53: 22).

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