RECEIVED

05-21-2010

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS COURT OF APPEAL OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2009AP2690-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MIGUEL AYALA,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JEFFREY WAGNER, **PRESIDING**

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

MARK A. NEUSER **Assistant Attorney General** State Bar #1023791

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-7427 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) neuserma@doj.state.wi.us

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE OFFICERS ENTERED THE APARTMENT CONSTITUTION-ALLY.

"The Fourth Amendment generally prohibits the warrantless entry of a person's home." *Illinois v. Rodriguez*, 497 U.S. 177, 181 (1990). This ban is inapplicable, however, when the police enter the home with consent from a person with authority over the premises. *See id*.

Whether an individual gave consent for the police to enter is a question of historical fact; this court must uphold the trial court determination of that issue unless the court's finding is contrary to the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence. *State v. Tomlinson*, 2002 WI 91, ¶ 36, 254 Wis. 2d 502, 648 N.W.2d 367.

Voluntariness of consent, however, is a question of constitutional fact. *State v. Hartwig*, 2007 WI App 160, ¶7, 302 Wis. 2d 678, 735 N.W.2d 597. This court gives deference to the circuit court's findings of historical fact but independently applies constitutional principles to those facts. *Id*.

A. Rochelle Gave Police Consent To Enter.

Ayala does not dispute that Rochelle lived in the apartment above JoJo's bar and had authority to permit the police to enter the apartment. Ayala contends, however, that the testimony does not support a finding that she

actually consented to the officers' entry. In Ayala's view, the evidence shows only that the officers "did not ask for her consent to enter, but just went in" (Ayala's Brief at 18-19).

Consent may be given verbally, by gesture, or by conduct. *Tomlinson*, 254 Wis. 2d 502, ¶ 37. In this case, the trial court believed the officers' testimony that Rochelle gave verbal consent for the police to enter the apartment. Credibility determinations lie with the trial court because it can observe the witnesses and assess their demeanor and overall persuasiveness. *State v. Hughes*, 2000 WI 24, ¶ 2 n.1, 233 Wis. 2d 280, 607 N.W.2d 621. This court must uphold the trial court's credibility determinations unless they are "against the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence." *Id*.

Rochelle claimed at the suppression hearing that when she went to the front door, she was met by battering-ram-wielding officers with guns pointed at her, who did not tell her why they were there; who told her to exit the building; and who then entered while she stood outside, without asking for permission to enter. The trial court rejected that testimony. The trial court determined instead that the "the entry of the residence was certainly with consent based upon the totality of the circumstances," and that "what [Rochelle] said in court and how she said it, the court believes that she wasn't, quite frankly, very credible based upon the court's observation" (55:6-8). The record offers no reason to reject the trial court's credibility determination in this case.

Ayala argues that the credibility determination should be rejected for a variety of reasons. One reason is that court, in summarizing the officers' testimony, referred to one of the officers by the wrong name (Ayala's Brief at 18). This argument is overly fussy. *First Interstate Bank of Arizona, N.A. v. Murphy, Weir & Butler*, 210 F.3d 983, 988 (9th Cir. 2000) ("Of course, judges are not infallible").

Ayala also claims that the trial court should have concluded that the testifying officers were lying because Officer Wearing testified that Jose gave police consent to enter, whereas Officer Bandt testified that both Rochelle and Jose gave consent to enter (Ayala's Brief at 18). The State does not know how testimony that more than one person gave consent to enter undermines the trial court's finding that police had consent to enter. Regardless, there is nothing patently incredible about the scenario described by the officers: Rochelle giving consent at the front door, and Jose giving consent while standing on the stairway beyond the front door. See Chapman v. State, 69 Wis. 2d 581, 583, 230 N.W.2d 824 (1975) (circuit court's credibility assessments will not be overturned on appeal unless they are inherently or patently incredible, or in conflict with the uniform course of nature or with fully established or conceded facts).

Ayala also points out differences in the two officers' testimonies concerning circumstances wholly unrelated to the issue of consent; *e.g.*, how many officers were in the bedroom when Ayala was arrested and whether Ayala was cooperative during the arrest (Ayala's Brief at 18). Any differences in these post-entry facts are irrelevant to the issue of consent.

Ayala also argues that "a common-sense view of the totality of the circumstances presented to the court by police supports Rochelle Cervantes' version of events at the door" (Ayala's Brief at 19). Ayala claims that, given the dangerousness of the situation, "[a]ny reasonable, honest review of these circumstances would conclude that the officers were going to enter that apartment, one way or the other, right then and there" (Ayala's Brief at 19). It is therefore impossible to believe, Ayala argues, that the officers actually asked for consent when "they could have been denied consent to enter, alerting a potentially dangerous suspect inside" (Ayala's Brief at 19).

This argument goes much too far. There are innumerable situations in which it is dangerous or troublesome for law enforcement to ask for consent – but that does not mean that the court can simply presume that they never do so. Obtaining valid consent to enter a dwelling is a perfectly lawful and well recognized substitute for the warrant requirement. See Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218, 219 (1973). The police testified that they asked for and received such consent here, and the court did not believe testimony to the contrary. Ayala presents no valid reason to reject the trial court's credibility determination.

Finally, Ayala criticizes the trial court for not explaining why it found Rochelle's testimony incredible, other than the court's remark that she was smiling when denying some of the prosecutor's questions (Ayala's Brief at 20). Once again, questions of witness credibility are "peculiarly within the province of the trial court acting as the trier of fact," and this court will not "reassess the witnesses' credibility." State v. Young, 2009 WI App 22, ¶ 17, 316 Wis. 2d 114, 762 N.W.2d 736, review denied, 2009 WI 34, 316 Wis. 2d 719, 765 N.W.2d 579. The trial court is not required to "explicitly explain why it finds one witness more credible than another." Id. ¶ 18. This court cannot substitute its judgment for that of the trial court, and, therefore, this court must reject Ayala's request that it reverse the trial court's finding that Rochelle gave consent for the police to enter.

B. Rochelle Gave Her Consent Voluntarily.

The next issue is whether Rochelle gave her consent voluntarily. Consent is voluntary when "given in the absence of duress or coercion, either express or implied." *State v. Phillips*, 218 Wis. 2d 180, 197, 577 N.W.2d 794 (1998). "Voluntariness is determined by looking at the totality of the circumstances, including events surrounding the consent and the character of the

individual whose consent is sought. No single criterion controls." *Hartwig*, 302 Wis. 2d 678, ¶ 8 (citation omitted).

In this case, the circuit court found that the officers correctly described the details of what took place before they entered the apartment: the police came to the door at about noon; they identified themselves to Rochelle as police officers; and they explained to her why they wanted to enter the apartment – to find Ayala (55:2-5). There is nothing in the record to suggest that Rochelle was anything other than alert, oriented, and sober. There is nothing in the record to suggest that Rochelle, or any other resident of the house, ordered the police out of the house. Additionally, the circuit court found that the events surrounding the consent to enter included Rochelle's voluntary cooperation with the police after the entry, and the court noted particularly that she gave the officers written consent to search the apartment (55:5).

To the extent that Ayala contests the voluntariness of Rochelle's consent by way of her testimony at the suppression hearing, it is clear that the trial court placed little weight in her testimony. The court found that the officers recalled the events more accurately than did Rochelle. Because the court's findings are not against the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence, this court must not disturb them. *See Tomlinson*, 254 Wis. 2d 502, ¶ 36.

The totality of the circumstances supports the trial court's determination that Rochelle voluntarily consented to the officers' entry into the apartment. Accordingly, the trial court properly concluded that the officers' entry into the apartment was constitutional.

II. EXIGENT CIRCUMSTANCES JUSTIFIED THE WARRANTLESS ENTRY BY THE POLICE INTO THE BEDROOM WHERE AYALA WAS STAYING AS AN OVERNIGHT GUEST.

The trial court held that "the entry of the residence was certainly with consent based upon the totality of the circumstances and the entry into the room may have not been with consent but . . . there was probable cause. There was probable cause to establish exigent circumstances that were certainly present" (55:7-8).

As the trial court's ruling reflects, an exception to the warrant requirement arises when the State can demonstrate "both probable cause and circumstances that overcome the individual's right to be free from government interference." Hughes, 233 Wis. 2d 280, ¶ 17. To determine whether the entry into the bedroom where Ayala was staying as a guest was lawful,¹ this court must answer two questions: first, did the officers have probable cause to believe that the bedroom contained evidence of a crime; and second, did exigent circumstances exist at the time of the entry to establish an exception to the warrant requirement? *Id.* \P 18.

Here, Ayala does not dispute the existence of probable cause to search the bedroom in which he was staying. And for good reason: based on the officers'

- 18 -

¹ The State does not dispute that, as an overnight guest at the apartment, Ayala had a legitimate expectation of privacy under the Fourth Amendment. *See Minnesota v. Olson*, 495 U.S. 91, 98-100 (1990).

knowledge of information implicating Ayala in Milford's homicide, there was a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime would be found in the bedroom; therefore, the officers had probable cause to enter.

Ayala contends, however, that there were no exigent circumstances justifying the warrantless entry and search of the bedroom (Ayala's Brief at 23-26). well-recognized categories exigent are four of circumstances that have been held to authorize a law enforcement officer's warrantless entry into a residence: (1) hot pursuit of a suspect; (2) a threat to the safety of a suspect or others; (3) a risk that evidence will be destroyed; and (4) a likelihood that the suspect will flee. State v. Richter, 2000 WI 58, ¶ 29, 235 Wis. 2d 524, Whether exigent circumstances exist 612 N.W.2d 29. turns on considerations of reasonableness, and this court applies an objective test when making this determination. *Id.* ¶ 30. The test is "[w]hether a police officer under the circumstances known to the officer at the time [of entry] reasonably believes that delay in procuring a warrant would gravely endanger life or risk destruction of evidence or greatly enhance the likelihood of the suspect's escape." *Id.* (citation omitted).

At a minimum, the second factor – a threat to the safety of a suspect or others - was present here. Ayala was a suspect in a brutal, random homicide. He had avoided police for several days. Police had not found the murder weapon, and thus they reasonably believed that Ayala was armed. Ayala was a suspected Latin King; the building was a known Latin King meeting place. Police knew that Ayala was in the bedroom because Rochelle and Jose said he was there, though neither appeared to know why he was there. There were numerous people in the apartment whose identities and relationships to Ayala were either unknown or unclear to the police. The door to Ayala's room was ajar, so that officers could reasonably believe that Ayala was aware that officers were outside the door. The officers could also reasonably believe that, under these circumstances, Ayala would be nervous and agitated, and would do what he deemed necessary to avoid arrest. These facts would allow a reasonable police officer to believe that entry into the bedroom in order to perform a protective sweep was necessary due to a potential threat to the safety of the officers and the other inhabitants of the apartment.

Ayala's arguments to the contrary are unavailing. He argues that the police created the exigency used to justify their warrantless search and seizure by knocking on the door of the apartment (Ayala's Brief at 25-26). This argument ignores two facts: (1) obtaining consent to enter a dwelling is a perfectly lawful substitute for the warrant requirement, *Schneckloth*, 412 U.S. at 219; and (2) as explained above, the police validly obtained Rochelle's consent to enter the apartment. By obtaining consent to enter the apartment, the police were lawfully in a position to observe the exigent circumstances that justified their further actions.

Ayala also argues that the delay associated with the warrant procedure would not have jeopardized the safety of the officers or the public because the defendant "was on friendly turf" and because police had sufficient personnel to observe all of the building's entrances and exits (Ayala's Brief at 24-26). But whether the officers' entry into the bedroom where Ayala was staying was lawful must be viewed through the prism of whether, once in the apartment by consent, a reasonable officer would have believed that a further entry into the bedroom was justified by the exigent circumstances that were present. explained above, upon learning that Ayala was in a bedroom, possibly armed, it would have unreasonable to expect the police to then retreat from the premises, or to stand at the bedroom door while waiting for a warrant. The officers were not in a position of safety, and they did not have the luxury of time to carry out a warrant procedure.

This case is unlike the case cited by Ayala, *State v*. Kiekhefer, 212 Wis. 2d 460, 569 N.W.2d 316 (Ct. App. 1997), where this court found no justification for a warrantless search. In Kiekhefer, police, acting on a tip that Kiekhefer was holding drugs and guns for a friend, sought and received permission from Kiekhefer's mother to enter the house in which he was living. Id. at 465-66. Although police had been informed that Kiekhefer was possibly holding guns for his friend, they did not know whether they were in his room or whether they were loaded, nor was there any indication that Kiekefer was dangerous. *Id.* at 477. As the officers approached the closed door to Kiekhefer's room, they smelled the odor of burning marijuana. Id. at 466. They opened the door, walked in, and immediately handcuffed Kiekhefer and a friend who was with him. Id.

This case is degrees-of-separation different than *Kiekhefer*. Ayala was the prime suspect in a very recent, random murder. Police had reason to believe he was armed. He was a suspected Latin King in a known Latin King meeting place. He was in a bedroom with the door cracked open. The officers could reasonably fear being attacked whether they stood guard over the bedroom door or retreated down the stairs. These circumstances posed special risks that did not exist in *Kiekhefer* and that required the officers to act immediately and to forego obtaining a warrant.

Because there was both probable cause and exigent circumstances, the officers' entry into the bedroom was lawful, and neither the gun nor Ayala's police statement obtained after his arrest was fruit of the poisonous tree.

CONCLUSION

The judgment of conviction should be affirmed.